IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By--

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO: 78,466

BILLY B. BURDICK, JR.,

I

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Drigue Mann

JOHN L. MILLER ÉSQUIRE Florida Bar No: 655910 JOHNSON, GREEN & LOCKLIN, P.A. Post Office Box 605 Milton, FL 32572 (904) 623-3841

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, **BILLY B. BURDICK, JR.**, was the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, First District Court of Appeals. The Respondent, **THE STATE OF FLORIDA**, was the Appellee below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, **BILLY B. BURDICK**, **JR.**, and a co-defendant, Jessie Holley, were tried and convicted of burglary of a dwelling while armed, a first degree felony punishable by life imprisonment, grand theft, and two counts of grand theft of a firearm. (R. 184). The Petitioner was also convicted of violation of probation, since at the time he allegedly committed the offenses, he was on probation for the sale of marijuana, and possession of marijuana less than 20 grams. (R. 289). On December 13, 1989, the State of Florida filed a Notice to have the Petitioner declared a Habitual Felony Offender in accordance with Section 775.084, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1988 Supp.). (R. 287). Under the State sentencing guidelines, the Defendant qualified for a permitted range of $4\frac{1}{2}$ - 9 years. (R. 296).

On December 13, 1989, the State served notice that it intended to have the Defendant sentenced as a Habitual Felony Offender in accordance with Section 775.084, Florida Statutes. (R. 287). At the sentencing hearing, the State argued that the Defendant was a Habitual Felony Offender according to the criteria in Section 775.084(1)(a), Florida Statutes, and since he was convicted of a first degree felony, a life sentence was mandatory in accordance with Section 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes. The Petitioner was adjudged by the Court to be a Habitual Felony Offender, and was sentenced to a term of life imprisonment for burglary of a dwelling while armed, five years imprisonment for grand theft, and five years imprisonment for both counts of grand theft of a firearm, with the latter three sentences to run concurrent with the life sentence. (R. 291 - 294). The trial judge did expressly state whether or not he felt a life sentence was mandatory for a defendant sentenced in accordance with Section 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes.

The Petitioner appealed his sentence and conviction to the First District Court of Appeals, alleging that (1) the trial court improperly interpreted Section 775.084(4)(a) as requiring that the Petitioner be sentenced to life imprisonment; (2) that the Petitioner was improperly sentenced as a habitual offender in accordance with Section 775.084 since the substantive offense for which he was convicted was already punishable by statute by life imprisonment; (3) that Section 775.084(4)(a), <u>Florida Statutes</u> is unconstitutional as violative of the Equal Protection clause of the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution. The Petitioner also raised other issues before the First District Court of Appeal which are not relevant for purposes of this Appeal.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed Defendant's conviction and sentence on all issues. The First District held that Section 775.084(4)(a) imposes a mandatory sentence for a Habitual Felony Offender who is convicted of a First Degree Felony, and that the trial judge has no discretion but to impose a mandatory sentence upon a Habitual Felony Offender convicted of a First Degree Felony. The First District Court of Appeal also held that Section 775.084(4)(a) provides for an enhanced sentence for a defendant convicted of a First Degree Felony. The First District further held that Section 775.084(4)(a) is not unconstitutional as violative of the Equal Protection clause of the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution. Petitioner filed a Petition for Discretionary Review before the Supreme Court of Florida.

ISSUES PRESENTED

ISSUE ONE

WHETHER A LIFE SENTENCE IS PERMISSIVE OR MANDATORY PURSUANT TO THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE, SECTION 775.084(4)(a), <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> (1988 SUPP.).

ISSUE TWO

WHETHER THE PETITIONER WAS IMPROPERLY SENTENCED AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(a), <u>FLORIDA</u> <u>STATUTES</u>, WHEN THE SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSE FOR WHICH HE WAS CONVICTED IS PUNISHABLE BY STATUTE BY LIFE IMPRISONMENT.

ISSUE THREE

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(4)(a), <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u>, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VIOLATIVE OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I;

The First District Court of Appeal was incorrect in deciding that a life sentence was mandatory rather than permissive for a Habitual Felony Offender sentenced in accordance with Section 775.084(4)(a)1., Florida Statutes. This Court had previously ruled in <u>State v</u>, <u>Brown</u>, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988), that a life sentence under subsection (4)(a) was permissive and not mandatory. After <u>Brown</u> was decided, the legislature amended the Habitual Offender Statute in 1988 and 1989, and did not expressly provide that a sentence under subsection (4)(a) of the statute was mandatory rather than permissive. The legislature accepted this Court's interpretation of subsection (4)(a). In the instant case, the First District Court relied on its prior holding in <u>Donald v. State</u>, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) which held that a life sentence under subsection (4)(b) of the statute, for Habitual Violent Felony Offenders, was permissive rather than mandatory. In deciding <u>Donald</u>, the First District Court of Appeal did not consider this Court's opinion in <u>Brown</u>, and in reaching its conclusion, the First District Court of Appeal dignored commonly accepted principles of statutory construction.

ARGUMENT II:

The First District Court of Appeals erred in ruling that the Defendant was properly sentenced as a Habitual Felony Offender by the trial court, when the substantive offense for which he was convicted is punishable under Section 810.02(1), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, by life imprisonment. By statutory definition, a Habitual Felony Offender is one who is eligible

for an enhanced or extended term of imprisonment. The purpose of the Habitual Felony Offender Statute is to enhance the statutory ceiling for certain classifications of crimes. There is no enhancement provision under the statute for first degree felonies punishable by life, life felonies, or capital felonies. The First District Court of Appeals in part based its ruling on its reasoning that a life sentence under subsection (4)(a) is mandatory and not permissive, and that a mandatory sentence is an enhanced sentence.

ARGUMENT III:

Section 775.084(4)(a)1. is unconstitutional as violative of the Equal Protection clause of the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution. Subsection (4)(a)1. provides that a Habitual Felony Offender convicted of a first degree felony can receive a life sentence. Subsection (4)(e) of the statute provides that defendants sentenced under the Habitual Offender Statute are not eligible for parole, and are only eligible for twenty days of gain time per month. Subsection (4)(b)1., the applicable sentencing provision for Habitual Violent Felony Offenders, which presumably is a more serious classification than Habitual Felony Offenders, provides that a Habitual Violent Felony Offender can receive a life sentence, and not be eligible for release until after fifteen years. The statute expressly mandates that a Habitual Violent Felony Offender convicted of a first degree felony can be released after fifteen years, while a Habitual Felony Offender is not eligible for release for fifteen years. There is no rational basis or justification for treating a Habitual Felony Offender more harshly than a Habitual Violent Felony Offender, and therefore, subsection (4)(a)1. of the statute is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT ONE

<u>A LIFE SENTENCE IS PERMISSIVE, AND NOT MANDATORY, PURSUANT TO</u> <u>THE HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER STATUTE, SECTION 775.084(4)(a),</u> <u>FLORIDA STATUTES (1988 SUPP.).¹</u>

The Petitioner was convicted of Armed Burglary and sentenced to a term of life imprisonment under the Habitual Felony Offender Statute, Section 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1988 Supp). At the Petitioner's sentencing hearing, the State argued that a life sentence for a defendant sentenced under Section 775.084(4)(a) was mandatory and not permissive. The trial court did not expressly state whether it felt a life sentence was permissive or mandatory, but, following the State's recommendation, sentenced the Defendant to a term of life imprisonment.

The crucial question raised by this issue is whether the word "shall" as contained in Section 775.084(4)(a), <u>Florida Statutes, requires</u> a trial court to sentence a defendant to life in prison. Once a Court has determined that a defendant should be sentenced as a Habitual Felony Offender or a Habitual Violent Felony Offender, the Court is directed to apply the penalty guidelines set forth in Section 775.084(4)(a) or 775.084(4)(b), which states:

(4)(a) The Court in conformity with the procedure established in subsection
(3), <u>shall</u> sentence the Habitual Felony Offender as follows:
1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life. (Emphasis added).

(4)(b) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection
(3), may sentence the Habitual Violent Felony Offender as follows:
1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 15 years. (Emphasis added).

¹ The above issue is identical to one of the issues presented in <u>State v. Washington</u>, 574 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991), Supreme Court Case No. 77,626, which is pending before this Court.

The First District Court of Appeals held that a life sentence in accordance with Section 775.084(4)(a) is mandatory and not permissive. <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 16 FLW D1963 (Fla. 1st DCA, July 25, 1991). The Petitioner has sought the discretionary review of this Court and contends that the sentences under both Section 775.084(4)(a) and 775.084(4)(b) are discretionary and not mandatory.

A) This Court has previously held that a life sentence under Section 775.084(4)(a) is discretionary and not mandatory, and the legislature has accepted this Court's interpretation because it has not subsequently amended the Statute to provide for mandatory sentences under Section 775.084(4).

The Respondent suggests that the word "shall" as contained in subsection (4)(a) provides for a mandatory sentence of a Habitual Felony Offender convicted of a first degree felony. In <u>State v. Brown</u>, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988), however, this Court held that a life sentence under subsection (4)(a) is permissive and not mandatory, and gave two independent justifications for its holding. First, this Court reasoned that defendants sentenced as Habitual Felony Offenders were subject to sentencing guidelines, and to construe subsection (4)(a) as requiring a mandatory life sentence would not be in harmony with the sentencing guidelines. Id. at 52. Second, this Court reasoned that the legislature never intended for a life sentence in accordance with subsection (4)(a) to be mandatory. This Court concluded:

"We are further persuaded that the legislature never intended Section 775.084(4)(a)1 to be mandatory. The word "shall" as used in Section 775.084(4)(a)1, first appeared in the 1975 addition of Florida Statutes and has remained in all subsequent editions. After researching relevant session laws from the Laws of Florida (1975), we conclude that the legislature itself never inserted the word in the Statute. "Shall" either was an editorial error or a misapprehension of actual legislative intent by the editors. Both Chapter 75-

8

116 and 75-298, Laws of Florida, the only two laws amending Section 775.084 during the 1975 Session, clearly used the word "may". This expresses an unequivocal legislative intent that the life sentence should be permissive, not mandatory. Moreover, no prior or subsequent legislation contained in the laws of Florida has purported to change the word "may" to "shall." Id. at 53.

This Court in <u>Brown</u> was construing the 1985 Habitual Offender Statute, and after <u>Brown</u> was decided, the legislature amended the statute to exempt Habitual Felony Offenders from guideline sentencing. When amending the statute in 1988 and 1989, however, the legislature did not change the language of subsection (4)(a) to expressly state that a life sentence was mandatory and not permissive; therefore, the legislature accepted this Court's interpretation of subsection (4)(a). The legislature was obviously cognizant of the <u>Brown</u> decision when it amended the statute in 1988 to exempt Habitual Felony Offenders from guideline sentencing, and if it had intended for a life sentence under subsection (4)(a) to be mandatory and not permissive, it would have further amended the statute to expressly and clearly provide for a mandatory sentence.

It is well settled under ordinary principles of statutory construction, that the legislature's failure after <u>Brown</u> to amend subsection (4)(a) to provide for a mandatory sentence is a clear intention on the part of the legislature to adopt this Court's interpretation that subsection (4)(a) does not provide for a mandatory life sentence. <u>Henry v. State</u>, 16 FLW D1545 (Fla. 3rd DCA, June 11, 1991). *See Davies v. Bossert*, 449 So.2d 418 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984). When the Habitual Offender Statute was reenacted in 1988 and 1989, the judicial construction placed thereon is presumed to have been adopted in the reenactment, and court's are barred from changing the earlier construction. *See Deltona Corp v. Kipnis*, 194 So.2d 295 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966). In <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 16 FLW D562 (Fla.

1st DCA, Feb.22, 1991), the First District Court of Appeals followed the above-articulated rules of statutory construction in reviewing the "subsequential conviction requirement" of the

Habitual Offender Statute. The court concluded:

"Had the legislature intended to overturn longstanding precedent and the construction that the courts had placed on the statute, then it was obliged to use unmistakable language to achieve its objective." <u>Barnes</u> at D563.

The court continued:

"Absent clear and unambiguous language evidencing legislative intent to change or abrogate those long standing legal principles governing the application of the Habitual Offender Statute, the court should refrain from reinterpreting and repudiating those long standing principles." <u>Barnes</u> at D565.

Not only did the legislature fail to amend subsection (4)(a) to expressly provide for a mandatory sentence, but when it adopted subsection (4)(b) in 1988, which provided for enhanced sentencing for a habitual violent felony offenders, the legislature used the discretionary term "may" instead of "shall". It is illogical for the State to assume that when the legislature enacted subsection (4)(b) in 1988, that it intended for Habitual Violent Felony Offenders convicted of first degree felonies to receive mandatory life sentences.

The First District Court of Appeal ignored this Court's prior interpretation of Section 775.08(4)(a) when ruling that a life sentence under subsection (4)(a) is mandatory and not discretionary. The First District relied primarily upon the State's contention that the rationale for this Court's holding in <u>Brown</u> was because Habitual Felony Offenders were subject to guideline sentencing under the 1985 Habitual Offender statute, and since the statute has been amended to exempt Habitual Felony Offenders from guideline sentencing, this Court's interpretation of subsection (4)(a) is no longer valid. The relationship between

the Habitual Offender Statute and the sentencing guidelines, however, was not the only rationale for this Court's holding in <u>Brown</u>. No explanation was given by the First District Court of Appeals as to why it did not adopt this Court's reasoning in <u>Brown</u> that the legislature intended a sentence under Section 775.084(4)(a) to be discretionary and not mandatory, nor did the First District Court of Appeals seem to examine the legislative history of the statute. The First District also did not follow the rules of statutory construction that it articulated in <u>Barnes</u>.

In <u>Henry v. State</u>, 16 FLW D1545 (Fla. 3rd DCA, June 11, 1991), the Third District Court of Appeals ruled that the sentencing provisions under Section 775.084(4)(a) are discretionary and are not mandatory. The Third District Court of Appeals in <u>Henry</u> followed this Court's analysis of the legislature's intent as articulated in <u>Brown</u>. The court in <u>Henry</u>, unlike the First District Court of Appeal in the instant case, applied the abovecited rules of statutory construction and found it significant that the legislature did not see fit to amend the Statute to provide for a mandatory sentence under Section 775.084(4)(a) after <u>Brown</u> was decided. <u>Henry</u> at D1545.

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1195, 1197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991), the Third District Court of Appeals ruled that a life sentence under Section 775.084(4)(b)1, the Habitual Violent Felony Offender provision, was discretionary and not mandatory. The court in <u>Smith</u> expressly noted that the State had conceded, both in its brief and at oral argument, that a life sentence was permissive and not mandatory. <u>Smith</u> at 1197. The State is now asserting a position inconsistent with what it argued before the Third District Court of Appeals in <u>Smith</u>, and urges this Court not to follow the reasoning of the Third District Court of Appeals that a life sentence under subsection (4)(a) or (4)(b) is permissive and not mandatory.

B) The First District Court of Appeals decision of Donald v. State, supra, was incorrectly decided because it overlooked the Rule of Lenity and Strict Scrutiny in criminal cases.

In the instant case, after distinguishing <u>Brown</u>, the First District relied on its previous holding in <u>Donald v. State</u>, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), in which the First District held tht a life sentence for a Habitual Violent Felony Offender sentenced in accordance with Section 775.084(4)(b) is mandatory and not permissive, despite the statutory language that the Court "may" sentence a Habitual Violent Felony Offender convicted of a first degree felony to a term of life imprisonment. *See also* <u>Pittman v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). It is noteworthy that when deciding <u>Donald</u>, the First District did not make reference to this Court's decision in <u>Brown</u>. <u>Burdick</u> at 1966. The <u>Donald</u> opinion was never addressed by this Court because the case was remanded to the trial court for resentencing since the First District ruled that the defendant did not meet the criteria for a Habitual Violent Felony Offender, <u>Donald</u> at 795.

Even though the Defendant in the instant case was sentenced under subsection (4)(a)and not (4)(b), it is still important to resolve whether subsection (4)(b), for Habitual Violent Felony Offenders, is permissive or mandatory. The resolution of this conflict will also help determine legislative intent. If it is permissive, then subsection (4)(a), for Habitual Felony Offenders, must also be permissive.

1. Courts have applied the "may means shall" doctrine only in civil cases.

The First District in <u>Donald</u> decided that the term "may" in Section 775.084(4)(b) was mandatory and meant "shall." This Court decided that although "may" is generally given a permissive meaning, it can be obligatory where a statute directs the doing of a thing for the sake of justice. <u>Donald</u> at 794. The <u>Donald</u> court cited <u>Allied Fidelity</u> <u>Insurance Co. v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 109 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), as authority for this principle. In <u>Allied Fidelity Insurance Co. v. State</u>, supra, the Third District Court of Appeal considered whether "shall" was mandatory or permissive. <u>Allied Fidelity</u> is a civil case involving the issue of whether a court may enter a judgment against a bail bond surety upon undischarged forfeitures where written notices were not given within 72 hours of the forfeitures pursuant to Section 903.26(2), Florida Statutes (1976). Consequently, the Third District Court did not rule upon the question relied upon by this Court in <u>Donald v. State</u>, supra.

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