D.A. 1-7-97

Or I w Japp

FILED

100

MOV & 1991

CLERK, SURREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BILLY B. BURDICK, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 78,466

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, CHIEF BUREAU OF CRIMINAL APPEALS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARLIE MCCOY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In its order of August 26, this court postponed its decision on jurisdiction. In its order of October 2, this court authorized the State to answer the initial brief by Petitioner and the amicus brief by the Florida Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers (FACDL). Therefore, the State's answer will be divided into four parts. Part I will address jurisdiction; parts II through IV will address Issues I through III by Petitioner and FACDL, respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioner's statement, with the following clarifications:

- 1. Petitioner was convicted for three offenses: armed burglary of a dwelling (count I), theft (count II), and theft of a firearm (count III). (R 284-5).
- 2. Before this court, Petitioner challenges only his sentence for armed burglary of a dwelling, a first degree felony punishable by a term of years not exceeding life. §810.02(2)(b), Florida Statutes.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I: Exercise of Discretionary Jurisdiction

This court has discretionary jurisdiction based on certification of two questions of great public importance. A careful reading of the sentencing transcript and the opinion below reveals that the first question effectively invites this court to issue an advisory opinion not grounded on the facts. The second question has been answered consistently and correctly by all five district courts of appeal. Whatever public importance attends the second question is no longer "great."

The State respectfully suggests that this court decline to review the certified questions. If review of both is declined, the court would not have independent jurisdiction to review Petitioner's third issue. Even if review upon the certified questions is granted, Petitioner's third issue is outside the scope of those questions. As to that issue, the First District's function as a court of final jurisdiction should be recognized, and review declined.

Issue II: Mandatory Nature of Petitioner's Sentence

Petitioner cannot attack his life sentence, which is clearly authorized by statute, on the grounds that it is permissive. Whether permissive or mandatory, the sentence is one that is authorized by the Legislature.

Section 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes, expressly declares that the trial court "shall sentence the habitual felony offender as follows.... [e.s.]. The word "shall" is mandatory; the plain meaning of the statute controls. Immediately following the life sentence for first degree habitual felons, the Legislature provided a range of prison terms for second and third degree felons. In marked contrast, there is no "term of years" language as to first degree offenders. This difference is telling. Legislature did not intend the punishment for first degree felons to include a range of possible imprisonment. To find the permissive would not sentences for habitual felons contradict the plain meaning of the phrase "shall sentence," it would negate or render surplus a later paragraph [§775.084(4)(c)] of the same statute.

Whether the sentences for violent habitual felons mandatory or permissive is irrelevant to Petitioner, who was sentenced as a felon who is merely habitual. Also, sentences for violent felons must be interpreted as mandatory to avoid the absurd result of punishing them more leniently. Therefore, the literal difference in statutory provisions as to habitual felons ("shall sentence") and corresponding provisions as to violent sentence") is not а difference habitual felons ("may Both sets of penalties are mandatory. Even if the substance. violent felon sentences are permissive, Petitioner cannot attack his proper, mandatory sentence of life.

<u>Issue III:</u> Applicability of Habitual Felon Statute to First Degree Felonies Punishable by Life

First degree felonies punishable by life are still first degree felonies. As such, they are expressly subject to the habitual felon statute. That statute does not reclassify crimes, but merely enhances sentences. Simply because the maximum punishment for first degree felonies punishable by life is the same as the maximum punishment for a life felonies does not equate those two classifications of offenses, thereby removing the former from operation of the habitual felon statute.

Issue IV: Equal Protection/Substantive Due Process

Petitioner's argument unavoidably challenges the punishments for violent habitual felons. As a nonviolent habitual felon, he is not affected by the former, and does not have standing. If he has standing, Petitioner's attack inherently challenges the statute as applied. Having never raised such a claim before, Petitioner cannot do so now.

Assuming standing and preservation οf this issue, Petitioner's tactic is errant. He asks this court to compare the mandatory nature of habitual felon sentences to the allegedlypermissive nature of violent felon sentences, and find that difference violative of equal protection or substantive due The narrower question is proper and dispositive: whether enhanced punishment for habitual felons is a reasonable means to achieve the unassailable goal of protecting society from repeat felons. The question answers itself in the affirmative.

Even Petitioner and amicus have conceded that the State may punish habitual felons more severely.

Assuming the punishment of violent habitual felons is more greater trial by virtue of lenient court discretion sentencing, violent felons are still treated more harshly under the entire habitual offender statute. Violent felons need only commit one of eleven specified felonies to be so classified; their present offense need not be "violent." Violent felons receive minimum mandatory sentences. Looking at the entire statute, Petitioner's claim of more lenient treatment of the more dangerous criminals evaporates. His equal protection/substantive due process claims are without merit.

In his first issue, Petitioner asks the court to interpret the word "shall" as "may," when interpreting §775.084(4)(a). If this court does so, then habitual and habitual violent felons are treated the same. Petitioner's argument is negated. Similarly, treating both sets of penalties as mandatory refutes the equal protection claim. As said above, there is also a reasonable basis for interpreting the statute exactly as written: sentences for habitual felons are mandatory; sentences for violent habitual felons are discretionary. All three alternatives uphold the statute.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION.

A. Mandatory Nature of Petitioner's Sentence

The first question certified below asks whether Petitioner's life sentence under count I is mandatory or permissive. A careful reading of the sentencing transcript and the opinion below reveals that this question is not grounded on the facts of this case. It invites this court to issue an advisory opinion.

At sentencing, the trial court declared why it was choosing to impose a life sentence. (R 319-20). Absolutely nothing in the court's remarks indicates it thought a life sentence was mandatory. All parties agree that Petitioner, as a first degree habitual felon, could receive a sentence of life. §775.084(4)(a)1, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988).

The First District declared: "We hold that because the trial court concluded that the habitual felony offender statute was applicable, it properly sentenced appellant to life in prison." (slip op. at p.4). This language is telling. It does not hold that the trial court erroneously thought a life sentence was mandatory. It simply concludes that a life sentence is

Petitioner was convicted for offenses committed on July 23, 1989 (R 85, 274-6); and is therefore subject to the habitual felon statute as amended through 1988. See §6, ch. 88-131, Laws of Fla. (effective Oct. 1, 1988).

² The opinion below is to be reported at 584 So.2d 1035.

statutorily authorized for Petitioner, assuming the habitual felon statute is otherwise applicable.

Therefore, the first certified question is not grounded on the facts. The trial court chose to impose the most severe sentence available, however, it did not state it was required to do so.

If rephrased to reflect the facts, the first certified question would ask whether a life sentence can be imposed upon a first degree habitual felon. All parties agree a life sentence is at least permissive, if not mandatory. As rephrased the question is not one of "great" public importance. As phrased by the First District, it asks this court to answer an irrelevant matter that would not affect the outcome of this case. This court should decline to do so.

B. Applicability of Habitual Felon Statute to First Degree Felonies Punishable by Life

Whether the habitual felon statute applies to first degree felonies punishable by life has been answered affirmatively in recent decisions by all five district courts. This case, by virtue of being decided en banc, controls in the First District. As to the other district courts, see - for example - Lock v. State, 582 So.2d 819 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (violent habitual felon statute applies to a first degree felony punishable by life); Westbrook v. State, 574 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), appeal pending, (habitual felon statute applies to robbery with a deadly weapon); Newton v. State, 581 So.2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991)

(habitual felon statute applies to first degree felonies punishable by life); Paige v. State, 570 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (habitual felon statute applies to kidnapping).

Acting independently, the district courts have reached consistent results. While important to Petitioner, this question is no longer one of great public importance needing an answer by this court. Basically, the question is a modest exercise in statutory interpretation. This court need not repeat the work of the five districts. See Everard v. State, 559 So.2d 427 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (district court declining to review question certified by county court, stating "nothing in the record indicates that the interpretation of the applicable statute involves such complex or difficult issues, or that the case has such widespread ramifications" to render each question certified into one of great public importance).

C. Equal Protection/Substantive Due Process

This issue is ancillary to the two certified questions. Should this court decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review those questions, it does not have independent jurisdiction to review this issue.

Substantively, Petitioner's equal protection/substantive due process claims are beyond the scope of both certified questions. Review should be declined. See Stephens v. State, 572 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1991) ("We do not reach the other issue raised by the parties, which lies beyond the scope of the certified question.").

As detailed in Issue IV herein, this challenge is actually upon that part of the statute establishing sentences for violent habitual felons. Since Petitioner is not affected by that part, this issue does not affect the outcome. Again, this court should decline to exercise its authority to decide ancillary issues.

See Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982) ("[w]e recognize the function of the district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and will refrain from using that authority unless those issues affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified case."). Notably, Petitioner does not allege independent grounds (i.e., conflict) for this court to rule on his third issue. The First District did not consider it sufficiently important to certify a question.

The State respectfully suggests that this court decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction. The opinion below should be allowed to stand.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE LIFE SENTENCE STATUTORILY AUTHORIZED FOR FIRST DEGREE HABITUAL FELONS IS MANDATORY.

The life sentence authorized for first degree felons is mandatory, and not simply a maximum. In arguing such sentence is permissive, the Petitioner and FACDL ignore the larger statute. Section 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) provides:

- (4)(a) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), shall sentence the habitual felony offender as follows:
 - 1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life.
 - 2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a $\frac{\text{term of years}}{\text{not exceeding } 30}$.
 - 3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term of years not exceeding 10. [e.s.]

The first emphasized language ("shall sentence") is very significant. As conceded by FACDL (amicus brief, p.10), this phrase facially mandates the sentence received by Petitioner.

Better stated, the plain meaning of <u>all</u> of §775.084(4)(a) renders Petitioner's sentence mandatory. The plain meaning, of course, is this court's starting point and lodestar in determining legislative intent. <u>See State v. Davis</u>, 556 So.2d 1104, 1106 (Fla. 1990) ("[Legislative] intent is determined primarily from the language of the statute. The plain meaning of the statutory language is the first consideration."). <u>See also</u>

<u>Drury v. Harding</u>, 461 So.2d 104, 107-8 (Fla. 1984) (in construing statute relating to blood alcohol tests for drunken driving, the word "shall" is given its normal, mandatory connotation).

In addition to the use of the mandatory "shall," the remainder of subsection (4)(a) implies a life sentence is mandatory. Had the Legislature desired that life imprisonment be only the maximum sentence, it could have said so.

Immediately following its life sentence language for first degree habitual felons, the statute establishes lesser sanctions for second and third degree habitual felons. Imprisonment for such offenders is a "term of years not exceeding" thirty or ten years, respectively. This language is significant. In marked contrast to the life sentence for first degree offenders, the Legislature clearly specified a range of imprisonment for second and third degree offenders. Through the absence of similar language as to first degree felonies, life imprisonment becomes the required sentence, and not merely the maximum.

Habitual offender sentencing is expressly removed from guidelines sentencing procedures by §775.084(4)(e) (Supp. 1988).

Owens v. State, 560 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Petitioner, in effect, received a sentence subject to pre-guidelines case law. Once it is determined that a sentence falls within bounds established by statute, the trial court's exercise of sentencing discretion will not be disturbed on appeal. Adams v. State, 347 So.2d 685 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977). See Banks v. State, 342 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1976) (court without jurisdiction to interfere with

sentence that is within statutory limits). Here, all parties agree that a life sentence is within the statutory limits for first degree, habitual felons.

Since he was sentenced under a procedure exempt from quidelines sentencing, Petitioner's heavy reliance on State v. Brown, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988) is misplaced. Bluntly put, Brown is no longer good law. It addressed the effect of quidelines procedures upon the habitual offender statute, a matter rendered moot by §775.084(4)(e). Equally significant, the Legislature ratified the use of "shall" in §775.084(4)(a), when it adopted the 1975 statutes as the official law of Florida. See ch. 77-266, Laws of Florida (adopting the 1975 statutes and preserving 1976 and 1977 changes). As noted by the Brown court (id. at 53), the word "shall" has remained in §775.084(4)(a) since original codification. Had the Legislature not intended that the mandatory "shall" continue in effect, it could have amended the statute to say "may." Significantly, the term "shall" was retained, despite extensive changes to the larger habitual offender statute in 1988. See ch. 88-131, Laws of Florida. expressly exempting habitual felon sentencing from guidelines procedures, the Legislature overruled Brown.

Petitioner (initial brief, p.11-12) urges this court to follow Henry v. State, 581 So.2d 928 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) and Smith v. State, 574 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). By omitting contrary authority, he makes it appear the other district courts agree with him. Actually, two district courts have adopted the

State's position: the First District in the decision below and other cases; ³ and the Second District, in <u>State v. Allen</u>, 573 So.2d 170 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Thus, two of three districts ruling on the issue have concluded life sentences for first degree habitual felons are mandatory.

Petitioner and FACDL, by focusing too narrowly on §775.084(4)(a), remain oblivious to other provisions in that statute. Section 775.084(4)(c) provides:

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